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AEOLIAN BUILDING (later ELIZABETH ARDEN BUILDING), 689-691 Fifth Avenue (aka 1 East
54" Street), Manhattan. Built 1925-27; [Whitney] Warren & [CharlesD.] Wetmore, architects; JamesBaird
Construction Co., builder.

Landmark Site: Borough of Manhattan Tax Map Block 1290, Lot 1.

On October 8, 2002, the Landmarks Preservation Commission held a public hearing on the proposed designation
as a Landmark of the Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building) and the proposed designation of the related
Landmark Site (Item No. 1). The hearing had been duly advertised in accordance with the provisions of law. Three
people spokein favor of designation: representatives of the property’ s owners, Assemblyman Richard N. Gottfried, and
Historic Districts Council. In addition, the Commissionreceived aresolution in support of designation from Community
Board 5.

Summary
The Aeolian Building was constructed in 1925-27 to

the design of architects Warren & Wetmore for the Gould
Realty Co., controlled by Commodore Charles A. Gould,
awealthy iron and steel manufacturer and property owner
(who died in 1926). Awarded a gold medal by the Fifth
Avenue Association prior to its completion, the building
was sold at public auction in 1927 and acquired as an
investment by Gould’s daughter, Celia Gould Milne, who
retained it until 1944. The building was leased until 1938 : _
as the headquarters of the Aeolian Co., a leading REREE
manufacturer of roll-operated ingruments. The firm of I
Warren & Wetmoreisbest known for itsdesigns for hotels
and railroad-related buildings, notably Grand Central
Terminal. Designed in a restrained and graceful neo-
Classical stylewith French Renaissancestyledetailing, the
Aeolian Building is clad in Indiana limestone with Itaian
marble spandrel panels, and buff-colored terra cottaon the
upper portion. Following the requirements of the 1916
Zoning Resolution, it risesnine stories before setting back
on thetenth, twelfth, and fourteenth stories. The corner of
the building isrounded on the lower nine stories, while the
upper portions feature anglesand concave curves. Bronze
and carved garlands and other decorative elements adorn
the structure, and large urns surmount the ninth story. A
tower with a pyramidal roof (covered in copper) with a
lantern risesin front of atwo-story penthouse/mechanical
section. The building was called by Paul Goldberger in the
New York Timesin 1984 “alyrical... gem... that may bethe
city’s most inventive merging of modern commercial
design with French and classcal architectural detail... as
good areminder as New Y ork has that architecture can be
exuberant and fanciful yet discreet and well-mannered.”

Since 1930, this hasbeen thelocation of the flagship Elizabeth A rden Red Door Salon. Florence Nightingale
Graham (1878-1966) took the professional name of Elizabeth Arden in 1910 when she opened a Fifth Avenue
salon. One of the pioneers of the women’ scosmetics and beauty business, she became one of the most successful
American businesswomen of all time. Elizabeth Arden, Inc., owned this building from 1944 to 1969.
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DESCRIPTION AND ANALYSIS

Aeolian Building *

In February 1925, the Gould Realty Co. purchased
the property that was the site of the William G.
Rockefeller® residence (1876) at the northeast corner
of Fifth Avenue and East 54" Street. The parcel,
considered by the New York Times “one of the most
valuable in the section” of upper Fifth Avenue,® sold
for $1.6 million.* The Gould Realty Co. was controlled
by Commodore Charles Albert Gould (1849-1926), a
wealthy iron and steel manufacturer and New Y ork
property owner. Born in Batavia, New Y ork, Gould
began a career as an accountant and Republican
politician in Buffalo. He acquired a steam forge in
1884, then built his own iron and steel forge three
years later. Gould decided to specialize in the
manufacture of iron and steel products for railroads.
He established the Gould Coupler Co. (to make
automatic railroad car couplers) in New Y ork and the
Gould Steel Co.inlIndianain 1892. Themalleableiron
and steel works were relocated after 1895 to a large
tract in a new town, later called Depew, New Y ork,
when it was joined by the yardsand shops of the New
York Central Railroad. After Gould’s move to New
York City, he founded the Gould Realty Co. and
Gould Securities Co. to handle his real estate
acquisitions, whichwereworth nearly $7 million at the
time of hisdeath. Gould commissioned a new facade
for hisformer residenceat 714 Fifth Avenue (1907-08,
Woodruff Leeming); the building was leased in 1910
to perfumer Francois Coty as his American
headquarters.® Among Gould’ s other properties were
No. 126-128 Fifth Avenue (1905-06, Robert
Maynicke) and No. 396-398 Broadway (1898-99,
William H. Birkmire).®

In March 1925, it wasannounced that the Aeolian
Co., a leading manufacturer of roll-operated
instruments, had signed a 63-year leasefor $12million
and would occupy most of the new building to be
constructed by Gould, with display spaces for
instruments, a small recital hall, executive offices, a
library, and an artists room. The proposed building
was initially described as in the “Francis I” style.’
Warren & Wetmore, the architects of Aeolian Hall
(1912-13), 33 West 42™ Street, and, more recently,
Steinway Hall (1924-25),109-113 West 57" Street, for
the Steinway & Sons piano company, were selected as
architects and filed in July 1925 for a fourteen-story
building, expected to cost $1 million. Construction
began in October 1925, with the James Baird
Construction Co. as builder. Commodore Gould died,
however, in January 1926. The Aeolian Building was
awarded a gold medal, for best new building within

the Fifth Avenue district, by the Fifth Avenue
Association at the end of 1926. The Real Estate
Record & Guide opined that

The new Aeolian Building is a graceful
addition to the music and art center which
dominates the development of upper Fifth
Avenue in the neighborhood of Fifty-seventh
Street. Every effort was made by the
architects to design a structure in keeping
with the traditions of the Aeolian Company...
and at the same time expressive of the
relation of their interests to the musical arts.
This desire, together with the necessity for
erecting a practical and modern office and
studio building, produced the present
structure. ®

The building was completed in January 1927, at acost
of about $1.55 million.® At its dedication in February
1927, architect Whitney Warren expressed the hope
that the building conveyed something of a sense of “a
littlerest, alittle peace, asimplicity complete, adream
realized” on Fifth Avenue, while Michael Friedsam,
president of the Fifth Avenue Association, stated that
“this splendid building is a Fifth Avenue-New Y ork
message of inspiration and good-will to the country.
Such beautiful structuresasthisinsureto our common
country the commercial leadership of the world.”*
The building was featured in Architecture & Building
and The Architect in 1927.

Designed in a restrained and graceful neo-
Classical style with French Renaissance style
detailing, the Aeolian Building is clad in Indiana
limestone with Italian marble spandrel panels, and a
buff-colored terra-cotta-clad upper portion. The terra
cotta was manufactured by the Federa Terra Cotta
Co."* Following the 1916 Zoning Resolution, the
building rises nine stories before setting back on the
tenth, twelfth, and fourteenth stories. The corner of the
building isrounded on thelower nine stories, whilethe
upper portions feature angles and concave curves.
Bronze and carved garlands and other decorative
elements adorn the structure, window sash and frames
are bronze, and large urns surmount the ninth story. A
tower with a pyramidal roof (covered in copper) with
an open lanternrisesin front of atwo-story penthouse
and mechanical floor section.

The Aeolian Building demonstrates Warren &
Wetmore's success in the design of setbacks and
picturesque towers. Because few buildings were
constructedin New Y ork City during World War | and
the following recession, tall buildings erected in the



1920s, such as this building, were among the first to
reflect the provisions of the Zoning Resolution,
including setbacks on the upper stories. Skyscraper
architects, including Warren & Wetmore, thusbecame
“sculptors in building masses,” as remarked by
architect Harvey Wiley Corbett.*? The curved and
angled upper portions and the tower that cap the
Aeolian Building follow in the long tradition in New
Y ork of tall buildings with embellished terminations.
The graceful classical style, materials, setbacks and
massing, picturesque upper portions and tower, and
ornamentation add distinction to the Aeolian Building
and makeitamonumental architectural presencealong
the commercial and cultural corridor of Fifth Avenue
in the 50s. The building was caled by Paul
Goldberger in the New York Times in 1984

alyrical... gem... that may be the city’s most
inventive merging of modern commercial
design with French and classical
architectural detail... asgood a reminder as
New York has that architecture can be
exuberant and fanciful yet discreet and well-
mannered.

Under the stipulations of Commodore Gould's
will, his various properties were sold at auction, in
January 1927. The New York Times commented that
“this is believed to be the first time on record that a
gold medal building has ever been offered at absolute
public auction.”* One of the most widdy noted
auctions of its type, attended by many prominent real
estate operators, the properties garnered a total of
some $6.7 million for the Gould Estate. The Aeolian
Building was acquired as an investment by his
daughter, Celia Adelaide Gould Milne, for $3 million,
leading the Times to note that “the price paid for the
property establishes a new square foot value of $432
for land and building in that vicinity.”*® In February
1927, the property was conveyed by the Gould Estate
totheMilne Security and Realty Corp. That entity, and
its subsidiary, the 689 Fifth Avenue Corp., owned the
building until 1944.%°

The Architects. Warren & Wetmore *

Whitney Warren (1864-1943), bornin New Y ork
City, studied architectural drawing privately, attended
Columbia Collegefor atime, and continued hisstudies
at the Ecole des Beaux-Arts in Paris from 1885 to
1894. Upon hisreturn to New Y ork, he worked in the
office of McKim, Mead & White. One of Warren's
country house clients was Charles Delavan Wetmore.
BorninElmira, New Y ork, Wetmore (1866-1941) was
agraduate of Harvard University (1889) and Harvard
Law School (1892), who had also studied architecture

and had designed three dormitory buildings (c. 1890)
on that campus before joining a law firm. Impressed
by hisclient’s architectural ability, Warren persuaded
Wetmore to leave law and to establish Warren &
Wetmore in 1898. While Warren was the principal
designer of thefirm and used his social connectionsto
provideit with clients, Wetmore became the legal and
financial specialist. Whitney Warren was also a
founder of the Society of Beaux-Arts Architects and
the Beaux-Arts Institute of Design.

Warren & Wetmore became a highly successful
and prolific, largely commercial architectural firm,
best known for its designsfor hotelsand for buildings
commissioned by railroad companies. Thefirm’ swork
was concentrated in New York City during the first
three decades of the twentieth century, but it also
received projects across the United States and
overseas. The designs were mainly variations of the
neo-Classcal idiom, including essays in the Beaux-
Arts and neo-Renaissance styles. Warren &
Wetmore's first magjor commission, the result of a
competition, was the flamboyant New York Yacht
Club (1899-1900), 37 West 44" Street. Early
residences by the firm included town houses on the
Upper East Side, such as the Marshall Orme Wilson
House (1900-03), 3 East 64™ Street; James A. and
Florence S. Burden House (1902-05), 7 East 91%
Street; and R. Livingston and Eleanor T. Beeckman
House (1903-05), 854 Fifth Avenue.’® The firm of
Warren & Wetmore was responsible for the design of
the facades of the Chelsea Piers (1902-10,
demolished) along the Hudson River between Little
West 12" and West 23" Streets; the Vanderbilt Hotel
(1910-13), 4 Park Avenue, including theDellaRobbia
Bar (with R. Guastavino Co. and Rookwood Pottery
Co.); Aeolian Hall (1912-13); and a number of luxury
apartment houses, such as No. 903 Park Avenue
(1912).

Warren & Wetmore is most notably associated
with the design of Grand Central Terminal (1903-13,
with Reed & Stem and William J. Wilgus, engineer),
East 42™ Street and Park Avenue, aswell as a number
of other projectsin its vicinity. Whitney Warren was
the cousin of William K. Vanderbilt, chairman of the
board of the New York Central Railroad, who was
responsible for the firm’ s selection as chief designers.
Nearby development by the firm over the span of two
decades included: Hotel Belmont (1905-06,
demolished); Ritz-Carlton Hotel (1910, demolished);
Biltmore Hotel (1912-14, significantly altered),
Vanderbilt Avenue and East 43" Street; Park Avenue
Viaduct (designed 1912, built 1917-19); Commodore
Hotel (1916-19, significantly altered), 125 East 42"
Street; Equitable Trust Co. Building (1917-18), 347-



355 Madison Avenue; Hotel Ambassador (1921,
demolished); and New Y ork Centrd Building (1927-
29), 230 Park Avenue.* With the firm’s success with
Grand Central Terminal came commissions for other
railroad stations for the New Y ork Central, Michigan
Central, Canadian Northern, and Erie Railroads.
Notable among these are the Fort Gary Station (1909),
Winnepeg, Canada; Y onkers Railroad Station (1911);
Union Station (1911-12), Houston; and Michigan
Central Station (1913-14, with Reed & Stem), Detroit.

The firm's later work displayed an increased
interest in the “composition of architectural mass.” %
Prominent later commissions included the Heckscher
Building (1920-21), 730 Fifth Avenue; Plaza Hotel
addition (1921), 2 Central Park South; Steinway Hall
(1924-25); Aeolian Building (1925-27); Tower
Building (1926), 200 Madison Avenue; Consolidated
Edison Co. Building Tower (1926), 4 Irving Place;
Erlanger Theater (1926-27), 246-256 West 44"
Street;” and Stewart & Co. Building (1929,
demolished), 721-725 Fifth Avenue. The Heckscher,
Steinway, Aeolian, and Consolidated Edison
Buildings, in particular, show the firm’ s successin its
use of setbacks and picturesque towers. Little was
constructed by the firm after 1930. Whitney Warren
retired fromWarren & Wetmorein 1931, butremained
aconsulting architect. CharlesW etmorewasthefirm’'s
senior partner until the end of hislife.

James Baird Construction Co., Builder #

The JamesBaird Construction Co. was established
in New York City in 1925. James Baird (1873-1953),
born in Kentucky, received a degree in civil
engineering from the University of Michigan (1896).
In 1899-1900, hewas empl oyed as a superi ntendent by
the George A. Fuller Co. (founded in Chicago in 1882
by George Allon Fuller) and, in 1900-01, by the
Thompson Starrett Co., both in New York. He
returned to the Fuller Co. in 1902, and worked in the
branch office in Boston. The George A. Fuller Co.
moved its headquarters to New York and became a
major force in the construction and promotion of tall
office buildingsin the city. The firm's officeswerein
the Fuller Building, better known as the Fatiron
Building (1901-03, D.H. Burnham & Co.), Fifth
Avenue and 23" Street, for which Baird was credited
with directing construction. From 1904 to 1910, he
wasin charge of thefirm’ swork in Washington, D.C.,
and throughout the southeastern United States. Baird
served as vice president of the Fuller concern from
1910t0 1922, and as president in 1922-24. He directed
construction of the Commodore Hotel, and theLincoln
Memorial (1912-22, Henry Bacon), Washington, D.C.
The James Baird Construction Co., of which Baird

was president until his death, was responsible for the
erection of the Aeolian Building; Freer Gallery of Art
(1923-28, Charles A. Platt), and Folger Shakespeare
Library (1928-32, Paul Cret), Washington, D.C.; and
the Brooklyn Printing Plant of the New York Times
(1929-30, Albert Kahn), 59-75 Third Avenue. Baird
movedto Arizonain 1933. Hedirected construction of
temporary World War 11 buildings in Washington and
elsewhere.

Fifth Avenue and West 57" Street: Commercial and
Cultural Center

For most of the nineteenth century, successive
portions of Fifth Avenue enjoyed the reputation of
being New York's most prestigious residential
enclave. Astheavenuewas developed northward from
Washington Square, its character reflected the growth
and change of Manhattan, with newer northerly
residential sections followed closely by commercial
redevelopment. After the Civil War, Fifth Avenue
between 42™ and 59" Streets was built up with town
houses and mansionsfor New Y ork’s elite, yet by the
turn of the century profound commercial change had
occurred. One writer in 1907 commented that “ among
the many radical changes which have been brought
about during the past six yearsin New Y ork City, the
most radical and the most significant are those which
have taken place on Fifth Avenue. That thoroughfare
has been completely transformed.”® Fifth Avenue
became an elegant boulevard of prestigious retail
shops, department stores, luxury hotels, and elite
social clubs, aswell asthe center of American fashion.
In the vicinity of the Aeolian Building are the St.
Regis Hotel (1901-04, Trowbridge & Livingston;
1927, Sloan & Robertson), 699-703 Fifth Avenue;
University Club (1896-1900, M cKim, Mead & W hite),
1 West 54" Street; and Gotham Hotel (1902-05, Hiss
& Weekes), 696-700 Fifth Avenue.”®

West 57" Street, particularly the blocks between
Sixth Avenue and Broadway, also had adistinguished
history, but one associated with the arts for over a
century. As residences for the weathy were
constructed along Fifth Avenue and adjacent blocks,
several early apartment houses were built on West 57"
Streetin the 1880sthat provided large studio spacefor
artists, paving theway for the neighborhood’ seventual
reputation as an artistic center. Carnegie Hall (1889-
91, William B. Tuthill), at the southeast corner of
Seventh Avenue, became one of the nation’s most
legendary concert halls?” The American Fine Arts
Society Building (1891-92, Henry J. Hardenbergh),
215 West 57" Street, has been home to the
Architectural League, Art Students League, and
Society of American Artists, providing exhibition,




classroom, and studio facilities; it was the site of
“virtually every important exhibition of art and
architecture held in the city” % for many years. By the
time the Louis H. Chalif Normal School of Dancing
(1916, G.A. & H. Boehm), one of the earliest
American schools to instruct teachers in dance, was
built at 163-165 West 57" Street, it was said that the
neighborhood “abounds in structures devoted to the
cultivation of the arts.”* As indicated in the Federal
Writers' Project’s New York City Guidein 1939, “the
completion of Carnegie Hall in 1891 established the
district asthe foremost musical center of the country.
Manufacturers of musical instruments, especialy
pianos, opened impressive showrooms along Fifty-
seventh Street.”*® These included Chickering Hall
(1924, Cross & Cross), 29 West 57" Street, and
Steinway Hall.

Aeolian Company *

At the turn of the century, self-playing organs
gained popularity among the wealthy in the United
States and Europe. Automatic player organs, pianos,
and other instruments (mostly for residential use)
remained popular throughout the first three decades of
the twentieth century, and New Y ork became a center
for their manufacture. Powered by foot pedals, the
instruments’ music was achieved through perforated
paper rolls. New Y ork City piano maker William B.
Tremaine established the Mechanical Orguinette Co.
(1878) to manufacture automated reed organs. Helater
founded the Aeolian Organ & Music Co. (1887) to
make automatic organs; known as the Aeolian Co.
after 1895, it al so madeautomatic pianos. The pianola,
a pneumatic player piano, was invented in 1895 by
Edwin S. Votey, president of the Farrand & Votey
Organ Co., Detroit. Votey joined Aeolian in 1897 and
the firm obtained the patent for his invention (1900),
which becameimmensely popular. In 1903, Tremaine
organized the Aeolian, Weber Piano & Pianola Co. to
absorb a number of manufacturers of self-playing
instruments (pianos, reed organs, and automatic
organs), including the [Albert] Weber Co., maker of
pianos in New York since 1852. The Aeolian Co.
remained a major subsidiary. The pianola was later
supplanted by Aeolian’s" Duo Art” reproducing piano
(1913), which could replicate the sound of a famous
artist playing and required no manual intervention.
The Aeolian, Weber Piano & Pianola Co. becamethe
world's leading manufacturer of roll-operated
instruments.

Inthe 1920s, Aeolian attempted to branch out into
the manufacture of organs for churches and concert
halls. But with the onset of the Depression and the
resultant loss of its residential market base, Aeolian

ceased itsorgan manufacturing in 1930 and sold these
assets. As the era of the player piano faded with the
rising popularity of the gramophone and radio, the
Aeolian, Weber Piano & Pianola Co. merged in 1932
with the American Piano Corp. to form the Aeolian
American Corp. The American Piano Co. had been
organized in 1908 through the consolidation of
Chickering & Sons, Boston; Knabe & Co., Baltimore;
and a number of other piano companies. Its player
piano division was formed in 1909, and its “ Ampico”
system competed directly with Aeolian’s “Duo Art”
pianos. The firm became the American Piano Corp. in
1930. The Aeolian American Corp. became the
AeolianCorp. in 1959; it declared bankruptcy in 1985.

Aeolian’' sfirg locationwas at 841 Broadway, near
Union Square, in the heart of the piano district; the
company later moved uptown to 23 Street, and then
to 360 Fifth Avenue. Aeolian Hall (1912-13), 33 West
42™ Street, housed the firm’s generd offices and
demonstration rooms showcasing its instruments, as
well asarecital hall on the 43" Street side wheremany
noted musicians performed. The building was sold by
Aeolian in 1924. William H. Alfring, vice president
/general manager, wasquoted in 1925 in the New York
Times: “We had a sentimental urge to return to Fifth
Avenue, not only for Albert Weber’searly association,
but because the Aeolian Company was the first to
erect a fine building north of Twenty-third Street,
when it built a Thirty-fourth Street and Fifth
Avenue.”* The firm’s facilities in the new Aeolian
Building included a shipping department in the
basement, with a truck lift to the ground level; a
showroom for its pianos and organs on the ground
story, with acorner entrance; demonstration roomson
the lower six stories; a small second-story recital hall
for 150; and recording studios for Duo Art records
(rolls), offices, design studios, drafting rooms, and a
director’s room in the upper stories. The Aeolian Co.
(Aeolian American Corp.) only remained in the
Aeolian Building until 1938, when it leased half of
Chickering Hall on West 57" Street.

Elizabeth Arden 3

Since 1930, the Aeolian Building has been the
location of the flagship Elizabeth Arden Red Door
Salon. FlorenceNightingale Graham (1878-1966), one
of the pioneers of the women’s cosmetics and beauty
business and one of the most successful female
entrepreneurs in American history, was born near
Toronto, Canada. By legend, during a short stint as a
nurse she became interested in medicinal creams for
beauty purposes. Shemovedto New Y ork City around
1908, following her brother, and found a job with
facial massage specialist Eleanor Adair. Graham took



the professional name of Elizabeth Arden in 1910
when she opened her own salon at 509 Fifth Avenue.
She foresaw the potential profitsin cosmeticsand her
fortune early on was based on her pursuit in
developing a light “fluffy” facial cream, which was
achieved by chemist A. Fabian Swanson in 1914 as
Cream Amoretta. This was followed by an astringent,
Ardena Skin Tonic, and later by the popular Velva
Moisture Film. From 1915 to 1920, she was said to
have “introduced a larger number of preparations, of
greater diversification of use, than any other cosmetics
manufacturer in the world.” ** Arden moved her salon
farther north to 673 Fifth Avenue in 1915 (where she
is credited with introducing mascara and eye shadow
to Americansin 1917), and also opened a wholesale
cosmetics branch for department and drug stores.
Arden’s marriage in 1915 to banker Thomas Jenkins
Lewis provided her with American citizenship; he
became her general manager, greatly assisting in the
development of her wholesale busness from 1918
until their divorce in 1934. Branch salons were
established in Washington, D.C. (1914), Boston, and
Paris (1922), as well as a luxury spa (1934) at her
farm, Maine Chance, in Maine.®* Arden achieved
entree into New York society through her close
friendship with Elisabeth M arbury, one of theworld’s
leading (and pioneering female) theatrical agents.
Fortune in 1938 wrote that Arden “built her business
on swank, ultraexclusiveness and a line beautifully
packaged and styled.”*” The New York Times credited
Arden with making cosmetics acceptable for
“respectable” middle-aged women by “helping to
create and popularize creams, lotions and oils -- and
salonsat fashionable addresses in which they could be
professionally applied. ... She was a pioneer in
advertising beauty products in fashion magazines and
newspapers.” *

Elizabeth Arden leased part of the ground story
and five upper floors of the Aeolian Building in
August 1929. A new black marble storefront, at the
north end of theFifth Avenuefacade, was designed by
architect Mott B. Schmidt.* The Elizabeth Arden Red
Door Salon, with “treatment rooms, rooms for
exercise, tap dancing, and rooms for the use of the
electric mask treatments and other innovations,”“
opened in January 1930. The Federal Writers
Project’'s New York City Guide in 1939 called
Elizabeth Arden’s (and nemesis Helena Rubinstein’s,
at 715 Fifth Avenue) “among the most luxurious
beauty salons in the country.”** Even through the
Depression and World War I1, her firm remained very
profitable. In 1944, Elizabeth Arden, Inc., acquired
control of the 689 Fifth Ave. Corp. from the Milne
family, owning the building until 1969 and eventually

occupying elevenfloors. Timemagazinenotedin 1946
that Arden “made femininity ascience and made more
money doing it... than any business woman in
history”** and that “the grand showcase of the Arden
beauty empire at 691 Fifth Avenue is guarded by a
grey-liveried doorman and a red door marked simply,
Elizabeth Arden.”* In 1956, she opened apioneering
men’s boutique in this building. Arden personally
reigned over her empire until her death in 1966 at age
88, and was sole owner of her business. Her estate was
estimated at between 30 and 50 million dollars.
Elizabeth Arden, Inc., and Elizabeth Arden Sales
Corp. at that time operated a billion-dollar global
business which included fifty large “full-treatment”
salons in major cities and at two resorts, and another
fifty smaller salons for facials and hair styling, aswell
as the manufacture and sal e of hundreds of cosmetics
products and clothing. Miss Arden, however, had
made no provision for the continuation of her firm
after her death. The U.S. government soon claimed
some $37 million in inheritance and corporate taxes.
Elizabeth Arden was acquired in 1970 by Eli Lilly &
Co., and was later purchased by Unilever in 1990. It
was again sold in 2001 to FFI Fragrances (formerly
French Fragrances, Inc.), which changed its name to
Elizabeth Arden, Inc.

Aeolian (Elizabeth Arden) Building Tenants and
Owners (1938 to present) *

After the Aeolian Co. ended its lease in 1938, the
lower two stories of the building were remodeled by
architect Robert Carson for an I. Miller & Sons shoe
store, which opened in June 1939. The original
limestone pilagters and second-story marble window
surroundswere removed and light grey-yellow marble
cladding and new ground-gtory show windows and a
corner entrance were installed; second-story cusped
windows and bronze garlands were retained. Israel
Miller (1866-1929), a Polish-born shoe manufacturer
and merchant, established his businessin New Y ork
City in 1895, which was almost exclusively for the
theatrical professon. |. Miller footwear also became
fashionable for society women, leading him into the
retail trade in 1911, with a store at 1554 Broadway.*®
At the time of his death, |. Miller had 228 branch
stores across the nation, including four in New Y ork.
This store, | Miller & Sons' third location on Fifth
Avenue and fifth in New York, remained here until
1970.

The upper stories of the Aeolian (Elizabeth
Arden) Building have housed a wide variety of
businesses over the years, including furs, textiles,
watches, carpets, wallpaper, perfumes, men's and
women’s apparel, jewelry, exercise equipment,




industrial design, publishers’ representatives, public
relations, advertising, marketing, and a fashion
modeling school. Several mediafirms have leased the
upper portions of the building: Transamerican
Broadcasting and Television Corp., audition and
commercia radio program studios (1939-50s);
Olmsted Sound Studios, television producers (1954-
65); and Robert Saudek Assocs, Inc., movie and
television producers (1966-70s). Saudek (1911- 1998)
had been the producer of the influential television
program Omnibus (1952-61), considered a precursor
to public television. The building has also housed
several organizations. the Pacific and American
Councils of the Institute of Pacific Relations (1943-
50s), founded in 1925 to improve relations between
nations occupying the Pacific region; Greater New
York chapter, National Foundation for Infantile
Paralysis (1948-66), founded in 1938 and later known
as the March of Dimes; and Fund for the Republic
(1953-c. 1958), a non-profit subsidiary of the Ford
Foundation established in 1952 for the defense of civil
rights and liberties during the McCarthy era.

The building was acquired in 1969 by Arden-
Esquire Realty Co. (Larry Silverstein and Bernard
Mendik, partners). The ground story was remodeled
with travertine marble and stainless steel in 1970 by
Ernest Castro (Weissberg Castro Assocs.) for Dr. Aldo
Gucci, purveyor of Italian shoes and handbags. The
company begun by his father, Guccio Gucci, in
Florence in 1921 as a saddlery and luggage business
was continued by histhree sonsin 1939 and expanded
within Italy. Gucci opened its first foreign shop in
New York in 1953, at Fiftn Avenue and 58™ Street.
The Aeolian (Elizabeth Arden) Building was the
location of Gucci’s main New Y ork store from 1970
to 1980, after which it was a branch store for luggage
and shoes when a galleria store opened across the
street at 685 Fifth Avenue.

In 1999, the building was conveyed to 689 Fifth
Avenue LLC, asubsidiary of Vornado Realty Trust.

Description

The fourteen-story (plus penthouse and tower)
Aeolian Building is L-shaped in plan, with a Fifth
Avenue frontage of about fifty feet and an East 54"
Street frontage of 125 feet, and isdesigned in a neo-
Classical style with French Renaissance style
detailing. The midsection isclad in Indianalimestone
with Italian marble spandrel panels, while the upper
portion (above the thirteenth story) is clad in a buff-
colored terra cotta The building rises nine stories
before setting back on the tenth, twelfth, and
fourteenth stories. The facades are articulated
vertically by continuous pilasters from the third

through the ninth or eleventh stories. The corner of the
building isrounded on thelower nine stories, whilethe
upper portions feature angles and concave curves. A
tower with a pyramidal roof and lantern rises in front
of atwo-story penthouse and mechanical floor section.
Original windows have mostly six-over-six double-
hung bronze sash and frames.

Base (First and second stories) The non-historic
ground story isthe result of acomplete remodeling in
1970, with travertine marble cladding and stainless
steel storefront, for Gucci. The base originally had a
pink granite watertable; limestone pilasters; ground-
story doorways, rectangular show windows, and
canopies, all of bronze; and marble surrounds at the
second-story windows. A black marble storefrontwas
designedfor Elizabeth Arden (1929, Mott B. Schmidt)
at the north end of the Fifth Avenue facade. In 1939,
the rest of the base was remodeled for I. Miller &
Sons: limestone pilasters and second-story marble
surroundswere replaced by alight grey-yellow marble
cladding, and new ground-story show windows and a
corner entrance were installed; second-story cusped
windows and bronze garlands and the modillioned
limestone cornice were retained. Fifth Avenue: The
non-historic ground-story Elizabeth Arden shop at the
north end has ared door surmounted by an oval design
window set within a brass frame. The non-historic
southern storefront is set behind the piers and has a
curved corner entrance. Awnings are placed over each
opening. The second-story cornice bears the metal
letters “ELIZABETH ARDEN”. 54" Street: From
west to east, the ground story has: the corner entrance;
four show windows; a bay with louvers; and an inset
building entrance, with metal arched reveal, green
marble floor and walls, glass and metal doors and
transom, a hanging lamp, and louvers.

Midsection (Third through ninth stories) The base of
each of the building’s pilasters at the third story is
ornamented by a carved disk plaque (half of them are
surmounted by urns). Third-story windows have
balusters and are surmounted by entablatures. Three
flagpoles have been installed on the third-story Fifth
Avenue facade. Windows of the easternmost bay of
the 54" Street facade have louvers inserted. Air
conditioning louvers have been inserted below ninth-
story windows. The ninth-story 54" Street facade is
ornamented with carved plaques. The ninth story is
capped by a decorative limestone balustrade
surmounted by large urns a the corners; there is a
decorative central balcony on each facade.

Upper Section (Tenththrough fourteenth stories) The
tenth and eleventh stories are set back at the cornersof
the building, with concave-curved and angled walls
that connect to the central section of each facade,



which extends above the lower facade plane. Each
central section, flanked by scroll brackets, has two-
story round-arched windows (single on Fifth Avenue
and triple on 54" Street) with multi-pane sash,
surmounted by keystones and carved garlands. Air
conditioning louvers have been inserted below
eleventh-story windows. The eleventh story is capped
by a modillioned cornice and parapet. The set back
twelfth and thirteenth stories have an angled bay on
54™ Street and are articulated with two-story round
arches, set within which are windows with molded
surrounds. The thirteenth story is capped by a
balustrade. The set back terra-cotta-clad fourteenth
story is capped by a pierced parapet.

Tower Theterra-cotta-clad tower is ornamented with
round arches (set within which are windows
surmounted by oculi) surmounted by keystones and
garlands. Chamfered corners are surmounted by
decorative shells. The pyramidal roof and openlantern
are covered with copper, originally embellished with
gold leaf decoration. Penthouse/M echanical Section
This two-gstory terra-cotta-clad section extends
eastward from the tower and is pierced by windows.

Report prepared by
JAY SHOCKLEY
Research Department
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Geoghegan, Inc.,1972); Alfred A. Lewis, Ladiesand Not-So-GentleWomen (N.Y .: Viking, 2000); “Arden Interests
Buy Control of Building,” NYT, Mar. 9, 1944, 28; NY County; “Gifts Only for Men in New Shop,” NYT, Dec. 5,
1956, 46; Florence N. Graham (Elizabeth Arden) obit., NYT, Oct. 19, 1966, 1 and 47; “Elizabeth Arden’s Will is
Filed,” NYT, Oct. 28, 1966, 31; “Cosmetics M akers Puttingon New Faces,” NYT, May 19, 1968, |11, 16; “Elizabeth
Arden, Inc.,” International Directory of Company Histories40 (N.Y. St. James Pr., 2001), 169-172.

Lewisand Woodworth, 88.

The spawas created from the combined adjacent farmsof Arden and Elisabeth Marbury, the latter’s purchased after
Marbury’s death in 1933.

Cited in DAB suppl. 8, 12.

Oct. 19, 1966, 47.

NY C, Dept. of Buildings (Alt. 1323-1929); RERG, July 13, 1929, 43; Mott B. Schmidt: an Architectural Portrait
(N.Y . Natl. Acad. of Design, 1980). Schmidt had designed houseson Sutton Place for Elisabeth M arbury and Elsie
deWolfe, Anne Vanderbilt, and Anne Morgan (1921).

“Salon for Beauty,” NYT, Jan. 26, 1930, XI, 2.

Federal Writers' Project, 221.

10


http://www.pianola.com

42. Cited in Current Biography Yearbook, 19.
43. Cited in Women in World History, 444.

44. NY County; Manhattan Address Directories (1929-93); NY C, Dept. of Buildings (Alt. 3636-1938); “Shoe Firm
Leases Fifth Ave. Space,” NYT, Dec. 13, 1938, 47; “Business Notes [I. Miller],” NYT, June 6, 1939, 34; Lewis
Mumford, “ The Sky Line: New Faces on the Avenue,” New Yorker, Sept. 9, 1939, 63-64; Talbot F. Hamlin, “ Some
Restaurants and Recent Shops,” Pencil Points (Aug. 1939), 496-497; “l. Miller & Sons, Inc. New Y ork City,”
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“Business Leases [Institute of Pacific Relations],” NYT, Nov. 17, 1943, 40; “Work of Pacific Group,” NYT, May
3,1953, E8; “Polio ChapterinNew Home,” NYT, June 12, 1948, 18; “News of Realty [National Foundation],” NYT,
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FINDINGS AND DESIGNATION

On the basis of a careful consideration of the history, the architecture, and other features of
this building, the Landmarks Preservation Commission finds that the Aeolian Building (later
Elizabeth Arden Building) has aspecial character and a special historicd and aesthetic interest and
value as part of the development, heritage, and culturd characteristics of New York City.

The Commission further finds that, among its important qualities, the Aeolian Building
was constructed in 1925-27 to the design of architects Warren & Wetmore, afirm best known for
itsdesignsfor hote sand railroad-rel ated buildings(notably Grand Central Terminal), for the Gould
Realty Co., controlled by Commodore Charles A. Gould, awealthy ironand steel manufacturer and
property owner (who died in 1926); that the building was awarded agold medal by the Fifth Avenue
Association prior to its completion, and was sold at public auction in 1927 and acquired as an
investment by Gould’ sdaughter, CeliaGould Milne, whoretainedit until 1944; that the building was
leased until 1938 as the headquarters of the Aeolian Co., aleading manufacturer of roll-operated
instruments, that, designed in arestrained and graceful neo-Classical stylewith French Renaissance
styledetailing, the Aeolian Buildingiscladin Indianalimestonewith Italian marble spandre panels,
and buff-colored terra cotta on the upper portion; that, following the requirements of the 1916
Zoning Resolution, the building rises nine stories before setting back on the tenth, twelfth, and
fourteenth stories, and featuresarounded corner onthelower ninestories, upper portionswith angles
and concave curves, ornamenta bronze and carved garlands and other decorative elements, large
urns surmounting the ninth story, and a tower with a pyramidal roof (covered in copper) with a
lanternrising in front of atwo-story penthouse /mechanical section; that the building was called by
Paul Goldberger in the New York Times in 1984 “alyricd... gem... that may be the city’s most
inventive merging of modern commercial design with French and classical architectural detall... as
good areminder as New Y ork has that architecture can be exuberant and fanciful yet discreet and
well-mannered” ; and that snce 1930 this has been the location of theflagship Elizabeth Arden Red
Door Salon, the creation of Florence Nightingale Graham (1878-1966), who took the professional
name of Elizabeth Ardenin 1910 when she opened aFifth Avenue salon and was one of the pioneers
of the women’s cosmetics and beauty business and became one of the most successful American
businesswomen of all time, and that Elizabeth Arden, Inc., owned this building from 1944 to 1969.

Accordingly, pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 74, Section 3020 of the Charter of the
City of New Y ork and Chapter 3 of Title 25 of the Administrative Code of the City of New Y ork,
the Landmarks Preservation Commission designates as a Landmark the Aeolian Building (later
Elizabeth Arden Building), 689-691 Fifth Avenue (aka 1 East 54" Street), Borough of Manhattan,
and designates Manhattan Tax Map Block 1290, Lot 1, asits Landmark Site.
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Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building) Fifth Avenue facade

Photo: Carl Forster



.I. L

ﬂﬂﬁﬂﬂ!ﬁ

..ﬁ!dr!!g /

Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building)

Photo: Carl Forster
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Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building), base of Fifth Avenue facade
Photo: Carl Forster



ae el

Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building), base of East 54™ Street fagade
Photo: Carl Forster
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Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building), detail of Fifth Avenue facade
Photo: Carl Forster



Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building), upper portion
Photo: Carl Forster
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Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building), detail of East 54™ Street facade
Photo: Carl Forster




Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building), upper portion
Photo: Carl Forster



Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building), tower
Photo: Carl Forster
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Aeolian Building (later Elizabeth Arden Building
Landmark Site: Manhattan Tax Map Block 1290, Lot 1
Source: Dept. of Finance, City Surveyor, Tax Map
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